RECEIVED

Feb 14 2023

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court**

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Berkeley County Court of Common Pleas

**Jennifer B. McCoy
Circuit Court Judge**

**Berkeley County Case No. 2018-CP-08-02576
Supreme Court Case No. 2023-000213**

Gary Fraley #364802..... Applicant/Petitioner,

v.

The State of South Carolina.....Respondent.

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

**Jason Scott Luck
P.O. Box 47
Bennettsville, SC 29512
843.479.6863
jason@luck.law
Attorney for Petitioner**

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Was trial counsel's performance deficient for failing to call Petitioner's daughter Alta Fraley as a witness at trial to testify as to Petitioner's deranged and erratic behavior in the days prior to the alleged crime?
- II. Was trial counsel's performance deficient for abandoning an involuntary intoxication and/or insanity defense based on Petitioner's reaction to the drug Vivitrol, which was administered shortly before the alleged crimes?
- III. Was trial counsel's performance deficient for failing to object to the hearsay testimony of the State's expert, particularly when it was used to bootstrap prejudicial expert opinions of a non-testifying pharmacist?
- IV. Was trial counsel's performance deficient for failing to object to "prior bad acts" testimony so prejudicial the State mentioned it in its closing?
- V. Was trial counsel's performance deficient for failing to object to the hearsay testimony of Ruth Vick and Chad Vick which exceeded the bounds of "time and place" and also constituted improper corroboration testimony?
- VI. Was trial counsel's performance deficient for failing to object to the State's vouching for its witnesses in closing?
- VII. Was trial counsel's performance deficient for failing to call Petitioner's daughter Alta Fraley as a mitigation witness at sentencing?
- VIII. Was trial counsel's performance deficient for failing to present mitigation evidence involving Vivitrol at sentencing?
- IX. Did the Circuit Court violate Petitioner's state and federal rights by delegating its responsibility to draft an order in this action to the South Carolina Attorney General's Office?
- X. Did the State's tardy and misleading proposed order violate Petitioner's right to Due Process?
- XI. Did the substantial delays in this matter violate Petitioner's federal right to due process and state right to a speedy civil trial?
- XII. Do the errors set forth above collectively justify a new trial under the cumulative error doctrine?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

From October 7, 2014, through December 16, 2014, the Berkeley County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner Gary Fraley for: attempted murder, unlawful conduct toward a child, unlawful neglect of a child, criminal sexual conduct with a child in the third degree, two counts of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, two counts of kidnapping, and three counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree. (App 868-900). Petitioner was tried for these crimes on July 13-17, 2015, before Circuit Court Judge Kristi Lee Harrington. (App 1). Petitioner was represented by Melisa Gay, and the solicitors representing the State were Anne Williams and Daniel Poulos. (App 1). The jury found Petitioner guilty as charged. (App 784, 786). The trial court sentenced Petitioner to a total of seventy six years of imprisonment. (App 812-813). Petitioner served his notice of appeal on or about July 23, 2015, and by opinion dated July 26, 2017, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's sentence. (App 985-987).

On July 24, 2018, Petitioner filed an application for PCR with the Berkeley County Court of Common Pleas. (App 1158). For reasons that remain unclear, the Berkeley County Clerk of Court returned this application. (App 1158, 1293). Petitioner re-filed his application on December 28, 2018. (App 1158, 1177-1293). Petitioner supplemented this application by pleading filed February 4, 2019. (App 1167-1176). The State filed a return and motion to dismiss on April 23, 2019, which

was heard and denied on December 11, 2020.¹ (App 1049, 1167-1166). Petitioner supplemented his application a second time by pleading filed April 23, 2020. (App 1142-1151). Attorney James Falk² appeared as additional counsel for Petitioner and asserted additional grounds for relief by pleading filed March 12, 2021. (App 1140-1141). A final PCR hearing was held on March 25, 2021, but was continued due to Petitioner's trial counsel's failure to appear. (App 1049). Before this hearing was adjourned, the parties stipulated to the admission of the August 28, 2019, affidavit of Alta Fraley (and its associated images of her phone) into evidence. (App 1129-1139). Petitioner filed the affidavit of Julie Fraley on November 18, 2021. (App 1128).

The final PCR hearing was held on December 6, 2021, before Circuit Judge Jennifer McCoy. (App 1294). Representing Petitioner at this hearing were Jason Scott Luck and James Falk; the State was represented by Sammie Weidauer of the Office of the South Carolina Attorney General. (App 1051, 1294). Judge McCoy requested the State prepare an order denying relief on March 11, 2022. (App 1118). On July 11, 2022, Petitioner filed a motion to strike the State's answer for failure to prosecute (*i.e.*, failure to prepare an order); Petitioner supplemented this motion on August 8, 2022, and August 31, 2022. (App 1112-1127). The PCR court issued its order denying relief on October 19, 2022. (App 990-1038). Petitioner filed a motion to alter or amend this order on October 25, 2022, which was denied. (App 989, 1039-1111).

¹ No record exists of this hearing, but no party disputes that the State's motion to dismiss was denied.

² Mr. Falk's representation was limited to the December 6, 2021, PCR hearing.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Introduction

On August 5, 2014, Petitioner Gary Fraley, disheveled and wearing a heavy coat in August, entered the Goose Creek Royal Lanes bowling alley where his then-estranged wife, Deonna Fraley, was the manager. (App 272-274). Petitioner had come to believe that Deonna and the bowling alley's owner, Steven Tsafos, were having an affair. (App 302). Fraley walked into Tsafos's office, produced a revolver and held Tsafos at gunpoint. (App 279-286).

Petitioner then began acting erratically. He demanded that Tsafos write him a check so that he could pay some bills. (App 287). Petitioner accused Tsafos of having a year and half-long affair with Petitioner's wife, when Deonna had only worked at Royal Lanes for a year. (App 302).

Despite allegedly fearing for his life, Tsafos berated Petitioner for his unkempt appearance, stating in a later police report that he told Petitioner: "Look at you man, look at how you are undressed, you're not even taking care of yourself, you're messed up in the mind, you're not even rational." (App 303).

Following another argument between Tsafos and Petitioner, Petitioner mentioned his daughter Alta Fraley and laid on Tsafos's office floor. Shortly after the police announced their presence, Tsafos testified that the gun simply "went off," firing into the ground. (App 286-287). Tsafos used the ensuing confusion to escape. (App 286-287).

Petitioner then remained in the office while Officer David Adams of the North Charleston Police Department attempted to negotiate his surrender. (App 323-332).

Adams eventually decided to tackle and tase Petitioner after he threatened to commit suicide. (App 323-332). Oddly, police described Petitioner as “kind of playful, jovial” about being placed under arrest. (App 352).

Near simultaneous to the standoff at the bowling alley, the police received a call from a hysterical Chad Vick explaining that his eleven year old daughter, Minor 1, had just told him that she had been raped by Petitioner. (App 196-197). Law enforcement then met with Minor 1 and her parents at MUSC. (App 196-197).

At trial, Minor 1 and her family would testify that on August 5, 2014, Petitioner, who was their neighbor, showed them what appeared to be a set of rocks while inviting Minor 1’s older sister to a surprise “fossil themed” birthday party for Petitioner’s daughter Alta Fraley. (App 188-189). Alta’s birthday is actually July 16. (App 242). Petitioner claimed the party was going to be held at the Royal Lanes. (App 188-189). Minor 1’s older sister was not home, so Petitioner invited Minor 1 instead. (App 188-189).

Instead of taking Minor 1 to the Royal Lanes, Petitioner drove her to the EconoLodge after a brief stop at an area Publix. (App 206-215). Minor 1 would testify that Petitioner had her take a shower. (App 206-215). He then force fed her a mixture of wine and cough syrup before raping and sodomizing her. (App 206-215).

Minor 1 further testified that Petitioner explained that he was “getting back” at his unfaithful wife by cheating on her with Minor 1. (App 209). Petitioner then drove to Royal Lanes and left Minor 1 in the car. (App 215). While pulling out of the Econolodge parking lot, Petitioner backed into an on-coming car. (App 344-345). The

officer investigating the accident stated at trial that, “the person pulling out of the parking lot completely disregarded” the oncoming traffic and did not stop or slow down before impact. (App 349).

Relevant Facts Prior to August 5, 2014

In the months leading up to August 5, 2014, Petitioner came to suspect that Deonna was having an affair with Tsafos. (App 237-245). Acting on his suspicions, Petitioner routinely visited Royal Lanes to spy on her and to publicly accuse his wife of cheating on him. (App 237-245). Petitioner’s marital problems coincided with a rapid deterioration in his physical and mental health. Petitioner, who was medically discharged from the Air Force and on disability, suffers from numerous gastrointestinal problems: Barrett's esophagus, ulcerative colitis, acid reflux, a damaged liver, and high ammonia levels. Petitioner is also an alcoholic and had been diagnosed as suffering from acute depression. (App 491-498).

At the end of May, 2014, Petitioner entered into an in-patient alcohol rehabilitation program in Wilmington, North Carolina. (App 491-498). Shortly thereafter, Deonna Fraley left the marital residence. She initially stayed at a friend's apartment, but soon moved in with Tsafos after her friend came to believe the two were having an affair and confronted Deonna. (App 278). Petitioner left the Wilmington facility on June 23, 2014. (App 499-502). At the end of his treatment, he was administered a Vivitrol shot, designed to lessen the euphoric sensation associated with drinking.

Between June 23, 2014 and August 5, 2014, Petitioner’s whereabouts and activities are uncertain. At trial, Petitioner testified that he experienced significant

health problems after receiving the Vivitrol shot. His memory became “foggy” and he could not remember large segments of time. (App 574-581). Petitioner vaguely recalled that he visited his mother in southeastern Pennsylvania and that he went to emergency rooms on two different occasions because of intestinal pains and memory problems. (App 583-586).

Petitioner had no clear recollection of his return to Goose Creek and could not explain how he came to stay the Econolodge. (App 598). At trial, Petitioner bizarrely alleged that his clearest memory of the Econolodge was an occasion when he believed his wife and Tsafos had spent the night there together after working an event at the bowling alley. (App 538-540). Petitioner further claimed that a senior North Charleston police officer had facilitated their rendezvous by driving Deonna to the hotel. (App 538-540). Illogically, Petitioner stated that he discovered their liaison when he went to the hotel to retrieve Deonna's car, supposedly at her request, while she and Tsafos were still there. (App 538-540). On August 1, 2014, Petitioner posted a menacing, but incoherent Facebook status:

If my wife, a hole to go, or Kevin tells me they have a gun at the bowling alley at 3:00 a.m. in the morning I am going to use my fucking Leatherman to where I am going to be in the news again. Shut up. I can kick your ass with my toenail. Can't wait to prove that. Phone off. Notes guys. Third time in a least eight months, folks. I don't know who Steve is. Once my wife Deonna when she started to amp up her game.

(App 594-595) (verbatim).

In the time between August 5, 2014 and Petitioner's departure from Wilmington, Deonna had been tracking Petitioner's spending and was particularly worried that he had purchased an unknown item from a gun shop. (App 248-249).

She alerted Goose Creek police, but they were unable to locate Petitioner before receiving calls about the incident at Royal Lanes. (App 250-252).

Trial in Underlying Action

Petitioner proceeded to trial on August 13 - 17, 2015. The primary issue at trial was whether or not Petitioner was legally insane on August 5, 2014.

Testimony of Dr. Ana Gomez

Dr. Ana Gomez, a forensic psychiatrist, testified for the State that she believed Petitioner was sane when the crimes were committed: “My opinion is that Mr. Fraley did not have a mental illness that would have impaired his ability to conform his behavior to the requirements of the law.” (App 140). Gomez also testified an unidentified pharmacist she spoke with was unaware of any reported cases where Vivitrol had cause psychiatric side effects. (App 135-137). Trial counsel did not object to this testimony. Dr. Gomez stressed that when evaluating whether an individual has lost touch with reality, corroboration by others that the person was acting strangely is important. (App 170). She noted the lack of corroboration by highlighting that the police reports she reviewed indicated that others believed Petitioner was acting normally prior to the incidents. (App 170). However, this claim contradicted the later trial testimony of many of the State's witnesses, including some statements to police she claimed to review. (*See* App 156, 159-161, 273, 523, 525, 542, 551, 557, 861).

Testimony of Kimberly Tompkins

Kimberly Tompkins testified that, two days before the incident resulting in Petitioner’s arrest, Petitioner asked Tompkins’s daughter to help his daughter with

a school project, then the next day invited her to a surprise birthday party for his daughter. (App 177-183). Trial counsel did not object to this testimony.

Testimony of Ruth and Chad Vick

Ruth and Chad Vick testified Petitioner requested their daughter (Minor 1) attend a surprise fossil-themed birthday party for his daughter Alta Fraley. (App 193-194, 223). After he supposedly showed her some of the fossils that would at the party, Ruth Vick, after consultation with Chad Vick, allowed Minor 1 to leave with Petitioner. (App 194, 223). The majority of the Vicks' testimony consisted of corroboration of the details of the alleged sexual assault of Minor 1. (App 195-196, 226-227). Though the Vicks' testimony went far afield of issues of time and place, Petitioner's trial counsel did not object to it.

Testimony of Deonna Fraley

Deonna denied having an affair with Tsafos. (App 237-244). Deonna testified about the marital difficulties that she and Petitioner were having. Petitioner regularly appeared at Royal Lanes and accused her of having affairs with numerous people, including Tsafos, other employees and some bowling alley regulars. (App 237-244).

Deonna also testified about Petitioner's deteriorating health. (App 245-247). In the year leading up to August 5, 2014, Petitioner had mentally and physically declined to the point where he could no longer accurately recount to her the medical advice he received from his doctors. (App 245-247).

Deonna recalled at trial, "[i]t was probably towards the end of the last year. Because things didn't make sense so I started going to doctor's appointments... I

learned that his illnesses were related to his drinking. Every single doctor kept saying you need to stop drinking.” (App 247). When asked by the solicitor, Deonna recollected that, right before she moved out in June 2014, she believed Petitioner exhibited “evidence of brain damage, psychosis, not knowing where he was, not knowing who he was...” (App 247).

Testimony of Victoria Booth

Victoria Booth was working at the front desk of the Royal Lanes on August 5, 2014. (App 267). Booth testified that when Petitioner first approached the entrance, she did not recognize him because he was so disheveled and unkempt. (App 268). Petitioner “seemed like he wasn't fully there and he wasn't thinking clearly.” (App 273-274). She recalled that Petitioner looked confused as he walked back and forth between the alley’s pro shop, the bathrooms, the lockers, and the adjoining offices. (App 273-274).

Testimony of Steven Tsafos

Tsafos initially testified that Petitioner barged into his office and immediately said “you are a dead man.” (App 281). He later contradicted himself and claimed that Petitioner barged into his office by telling him that “I need your help or something” and then sat down. (App 287).

At trial, the sequence of the conversation between Petitioner and Tsafos was unclear. However, Tsafos was adamant that Petitioner asked him for money so that he could pay outstanding bills. (App 285, 292). Tsafos was also adamant that Petitioner accused him of having a year and half-long affair Deonna, despite Deonna having only worked at the bowling alley for approximately one year. (App 302).

On cross-examination Tsafos reluctantly admitted that he harangued Petitioner, who was pointing a gun at him, for his slovenly appearance. (App 303-304). During his testimony, Tsafos alternated between claiming that Petitioner intended to kill him and describing the gun as having simply “went off” and fired into the floor. (App 286). Tsafos’s testimony also vacillated between claims that he was terrified of Petitioner and boasts of how he insulted and mocked Petitioner. (App 284).

Testimony of Petitioner Gary Fraley

Petitioner testified that he was medically discharged from the Air Force due to mental health problems, particularly depression. (App 490-492, 1199). Petitioner received VA disability payments and admitted to being an alcoholic. (App 491). Petitioner further stated that he had pre-cancerous Barrett’s esophagus and had suffered from severe, painful gastrointestinal problems most of his life. (App 493-494). Petitioner recalled that in the months leading up to the incident, he had been undergoing treatment at MUSC and that he was beginning to experience adverse effects from the myriad of drugs he was prescribed. (App 497-498). Petitioner’s primary care manager recommended that he enroll in an in-patient substance abuse program. (App 497-498).

Petitioner enrolled at the Wilmington, North Carolina Treatment Center May 29, 2014 and left on June 23, 2014. (App 498). Prior to leaving, Petitioner received an injection of a drug called Vivitrol. (App 499). Petitioner was then driven back to Goose Creek by an unknown person. (App 503). Petitioner stated that he began to experience memory loss once he returned to Goose Creek. (App 504). He vaguely recalled celebrating a belated Father's day with his daughter and Deonna. (App 503).

He also seemed to remember confronting Deonna about her suspected drug use and a trip to a bowling industry conference in Orlando that she took with Tsafos and others, including Petitioner's daughter Alta Fraley. (App 503-504). Petitioner could not recall how he came to be in a New Hanover, North Carolina emergency room. (App 503-504). Petitioner attempted to summarize what he was experiencing after receiving the Vivitrol shot: "there was so much -- there was so much going on with my -- I didn't understand. I was sick. My stomach was hurting. I didn't know if I was depressed. I wasn't drinking. So but, I didn't understand what was happening." (App 505) (verbatim).

Petitioner had no memory of driving to his mother's house in Pennsylvania. (App 515-516). Petitioner stated that he was not eating during this time and was throwing up blood. (App 520). His mental and physical deterioration continued at his mother's house where he continued throwing up blood and was eventually taken to a local emergency room. (App 519-523). Petitioner could not remember how long he stayed at the hospital. (App 519-523).

Petitioner testified that his mother had told him that the doctors were "cauterizing all the wounds in my stomach and cleaning out my system" during his visit. (App 523). Petitioner recollected that at the hospital after he began to feel better. (App 524). He also remembered that the hospital staff had asked to him stay in the psychiatric ward for longer observation. (App 525).

Petitioner struggled to explain why he felt compelled to leave the hospital as quickly as possible. He testified that, at the time, he believed that his daughter Alta

Fraley had a birthday coming up soon and that he wanted to take her away from Deonna because he believed she was having an affair with Tsafos. (App 530). Petitioner said that he was unaware that his mother had packed a revolver in his bags when he left her house. (App 532-535).

Petitioner had very little memory of the three days that he spent at the Econolodge in Goose Creek. (App 541-543). When asked about Minor 1's testimony earlier in the trial, Petitioner responded: "I saw what y'all saw. And it was all -- this was all brand new to me. Everything was new. I was in awe. I had no clue that any of this was like this." (App 543). He did not recall telling the Vick family that he was having a fossil themed birthday party for his daughter. (App 544-545). He had no memory of raping Minor 1. (App 552-553). In contrast to Tsafos's testimony, Petitioner stated that "the only thing I remember about that day is when I told Steve that I was trying to kill myself, I was trying to hurt myself and not him." (App 546).

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