STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Berkeley County
Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2023-000213

RECEIVED

Jul 19 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Gary Fraley,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Finally, trial counsel explained why she focused on Petitioner’s physical state instead of the Vivitrol injection as the basis for his insanity charge request. In discussing her overall strategy of the case, she explained that Petitioner “presented as a person who said that he had taken some medicine and it cause him to go off the deep end.” (App. 1341) She explained she tried to find someone to substantiate that claim. As a result, she contacted Dr. Bennett to testify. She indicated even with Dr. Bennett testifying she “could never really get a good connection to that drugs effect in [Petitioner].” (App. 1343) Instead she was able to provide a connection to his physical state—malnourishment and other issues—to his psychosis and so that was the path she decided to follow.

Her discussion at the PCR hearing tracts what took place at trial. She initially began pursuing an insanity defense on the basis of Vivitrol. However, by the time all evidence had been presented, as she explained to the trial court, she believed the best course of action was to blame his psychosis on his medical conditions. When directly asked which basis she was pursuing, trial counsel conferred with her client, and explained she was basing her decision to pursue insanity from the medical conditions after reviewing the facts and testimony of the various experts. (App. 705-706).

In light of the evidence presented at trial¹, and the information from her own expert, it was not an unreasonable trial strategy to focus of Petitioner’s overall medical condition and “overall system failure” as the basis for his psychosis as opposed to the side effects of Vivitrol. See Smith v. State, 386 S.C. 562, 567, 689 S.E.2d 629, 632 (2010) (“[W]hen counsel articulates a valid reason for employing a certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel.”). Accordingly, this Court should deny the Petition on this Question.

¹ In particular, Dr. Magro’s testimony that he has used Vivitrol hundreds of times and specifically indicated Vivitrol does not cause psychosis. (App. 692).

III. The PCR Court did not reversibly err in finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to testimony of the State's expert explaining information relied on to reach her diagnosis.

The PCR Court properly found trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to testimony of the State's expert explaining information relied on to reach her diagnosis. First, trial counsel objected on the basis of hearsay at the first possible opportunity and the trial court overruled the objection. Second, the testimony was properly admitted to explain why Dr. Gomez discounted Petitioner's claims of Vivitrol impacting his ability to know right from wrong. Finally, even if it should have been objected to further by trial counsel, any error was not prejudicial especially in light of the testimony of Dr. Magro.

In order to preserve an issue for appeal, there are four requirements. "The issue must have been (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity." S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C., 372 S.C. 295, 301–02, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007) (quoting Jean Hoefer Toal et al., Appellate Practice in South Carolina 57 (2d ed. 2002)). All four are met in this case.

Additionally, this case is remarkably similar to the case of State v. Simmons, 423 S.C. 552, 561, 816 S.E.2d 566, 571 (2018) in which a hearsay object was made at the beginning of expert testimony and was allowed to proceed only subject to specific exceptions under Rule 803, SCRE. The South Carolina Supreme Court specifically said the issue was preserved even though the defendant did not continue to raise the objection throughout the testimony. Trial counsel raised a hearsay objection as soon as Dr. Gomez began to testify regarding the information she received from the pharmacist. (App. 135). As a result, trial counsel was not deficient.

Further, the testimony was not hearsay. It was properly admitted for the purpose of explaining to the jury why Dr. Gomez did not credit Petitioner's argument that the Vivitrol made him lack the ability to know right from wrong. As the Court of Appeals explained:

[T]he expert may testify to evidence even though it is inadmissible under the hearsay rule, but allowing the evidence to be received for this purpose does not mean it is admitted for its truth. It is received only for the limited purpose of informing the jury of the basis of the expert's opinion and therefore does not constitute a true hearsay exception.

Jones v. Doe, 372 S.C. 53, 63, 640 S.E.2d 514, 519 (Ct. App. 2006) (citing 2 Kenneth S. Broun, et al., McCormick on Evidence § 324, at 418 (2006)). Here the testimony was not admitted for the truth of the matter asserted but to explain why Dr. Gomez, even when confronted with the claim that the Vivitrol caused Petitioner to not know right from wrong, found he knew the difference at the time of the crimes.

Finally, even if counsel was deficient for failing to object to inadmissible hearsay, it did not prejudice Petitioner because the testimony that the Vivitrol was in his system a certain period of time and did not cause any psychiatric side effects was merely cumulative to other properly admitted testimony. Dr. Magro testified the Vivitrol lasts about a month. He testified he has never seen in research or in his hundreds of times using Vivitrol where the drug made someone have "dreamlike sequences and everything is white and foggy and they have memory lapses where they remember a great deal of some things and don't remember details of others." Finally, he specifically testified Vivitrol does not cause psychosis. (App.692) As a result, even if trial counsel had continued to object to Dr. Gomez's testimony it would not have reasonably altered the outcome of the proceedings. Accordingly, this Court should deny the Petition as to this Question.

IV. The PCR Court did not reversibly err in finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to prior bad act testimony.

The PCR Court properly found trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to prior bad act testimony. The testimony was properly admitted even under the current standard articulated by State v. Perry, 430 S.C. 24, 42, 842 S.E.2d 654, 664 (2020) and discussed in State v. Durant, 430 S.C. 98, 844 S.E.2d 49 (2020). Finally, the failure to object, even if deficient, did not prejudice Petitioner in light of the fact he never contested the fact he committed the acts for which he was charged and only challenged his intent based on his mental state and inability to know right from wrong.

As the South Carolina Supreme Court explained:

Rule 404(b) of our Rules of Evidence provides, “Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts ... may . . . be admissible to show . . . the existence of a common scheme or plan” The trial court’s standard for making this determination is the Lyle “logical connection” test.

Perry, 430 S.C. at 44, 842 S.E.2d at 664–65. As discussed in Perry, the particularly unique circumstances by which a person commits the bad acts is sufficient to establish the logical connection. Perry discussed State v. McClellan, 283 S.C. 389, 392, 323 S.E.2d 772, 774 (1984) (“It would be difficult to conceive of a common scheme or plan more within the plain meaning of the exception than that presented by this evidence.”), in which the defendant “developed a particularized plan for sexually assaulting his children through which he invoked the Bible, placed a duty on the children to ‘honor’ him, and placed himself in the role of ‘teaching’ them to submit to sexual violence.” Perry, 430 S.C. at 42, 842 S.E.2d at 663.

In the instant case, Petitioner also had a particularly unique method of attempting to isolate a young girl. With both the victim and the prior bad act testimony, Petitioner attempted

to gain access to a young girl by inviting her to a surprise birthday party for his daughter even though it did not occur at the time of his daughter's birthday. This particularly unique method of seeking access to a young girl is the quintessential common scheme or plan as discussed in McClellan and Durant. As a result, even if counsel had continued her objection to the testimony, it would have been affirmed on appeal.²

Additionally, Petitioner never contested that he was the person who committed the acts against the minor victim. Instead, he only challenged his criminal intent and whether he knew right from wrong at the time of the actions. As a result, even if the testimony of the prior attempt to obtain access to a girl by faking a surprise birthday party was not properly admitted its exclusion would not have reasonably altered the outcome of the hearing. There was ample evidence indicating Petitioner was intoxicated and not insane at the time of the sexual assault and other crimes being committed. Accordingly, Petitioner cannot establish prejudice to the defense he was actually asserting. As a result, this Court should deny the Petition as to this Question.³

² It is also important to note that at the time of the appeal, the prior bad act testimony would have been analyzed under the then existing State v. Wallace, 384 S.C. 428, 683 S.E.2d 275 (2009), standard which looked merely to similarities versus dissimilarities and it certainly would have been upheld.

³ Additionally, it should be noted the allegation of error would only impact the charges related to the sexual assault and possibly the kidnapping of the minor victim. Any ineffectiveness would not have had any impact on the outcome of the charges related to the attempted murder or kidnapping of Tsafos for which Petitioner was sentenced 60 years.

V. The PCR Court did not reversibly err in finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to testimony beyond time or place.

The PCR Court properly found trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to hearsay testimony by the victim's parents which went beyond time and place. Even if deficient for not objecting, Petitioner cannot establish prejudice because the testimony did not attack his criminal intent or attempted insanity defense and he never contested identity or that he committed the underlying acts.

“Failure to make the required showing of either deficient performance or sufficient prejudice defeats the ineffectiveness claim.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 700 (1984). To establish prejudice, an applicant must show that “but for counsel’s error, there is a reasonable probability the result of the proceedings would have been different.” Taylor v. State, 404 S.C. 350, 359, 745 S.E.2d 97, 102 (2013) “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694.

In the instant case, Petitioner’s counsel conceded he committed the underlying acts in her opening statement. He never contested the fact the acts were done, and he never contested the fact he committed the acts. He solely contested his criminal liability for the actions. The testimony by the parents, while beyond the “time or place” exception of Rule 801(d)(1)(D), SCRE, did not impact any determination regarding his intent. Instead, it merely corroborated what he had already admitted—that the girl was raped. As a result, he has not established any prejudice sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial.⁴

⁴ Additionally, it should be noted the allegation of error would only impact the charges related to the sexual assault and possibly the kidnapping of the minor victim. Any ineffectiveness would not have had any impact on the outcome of the charges related to the attempted murder or kidnapping of Tsafos for which Petitioner was sentenced 60 years.

VI. The PCR Court did not reversibly err in finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the State’s closing argument.

The PCR Court properly found trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to commentary during the State’s closing argument regarding the victim’s parents. The testimony was not impermissible vouching based on information outside the record. Further, the innocuous commentary, even if impermissible, did not prejudice Petitioner such that it undermined confidence in the outcome of the trial.

Petitioner maintains counsel should have objected to the commentary by the State during closing argument: “When you think about Ruth Vick and Chad Vick what kind of people are these? These are people who are respectful, they have good jobs, they take care of their family.” (App 745). He asserts: “There is no basis in the record for the State’s statements regarding the Vicks in closing.” However, the statements are characterizations of the testimony presented by the Vicks. Ruth Vick testified she was a respiratory therapist and Chad Vick indicated he was a registered nurse. (App. 222).

A solicitor is allowed to make reasonable inferences from the testimony in the record and provide characterizations based on the evidence in the record. State v. Copeland, 321 S.C. 318, 468 S.E.2d 620 (1996) (“A solicitor’s closing argument . . . should stay within the record and reasonable inferences to it.”). To be sure, solicitors have “substantial latitude to present their case as they see fit” and “[t]hat latitude is not to be casually abridged.” Bennett v. Stirling, 842 F.3d 319, 323 (4th Cir. 2016). In fact, the Supreme Court warns “[t]he line separating acceptable from improper advocacy is not easily drawn.” Id. (quoting United States v. Young, 470 U.S. 1, 7 (1985)).

As the United States Supreme Court has concluded: “it ‘is not enough that the prosecutors' remarks were undesirable or even universally condemned.’ . . . The relevant question is whether the prosecutors’ comments ‘so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process.’” Darden v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 168, 181, 106 S. Ct. 2464, 2471, 91 L. Ed. 2d 144 (1986). In the instant case, the commentary by the solicitor was derived from the testimony and record before the jury. It also was not remotely of the nature of “universally condemned” statements.

Finally, even if the commentary should have not been spoken, it did not prejudice Petitioner. As noted before, Petitioner never challenged whether he was the perpetrator of the acts or whether any or all of the acts occurred. He merely challenged his criminal liability based on a lack of intent and the inability to determine moral or legal right from wrong. As a result, he undoubtedly fails the second prong of the Strickland test. Accordingly, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari as to this Question.⁵

⁵ Additionally, it should be noted the allegation of error would only impact the charges related to the sexual assault and kidnapping of the minor victim. Any ineffectiveness based on commentary related to the minor victim’s parents would not have had any impact on the outcome of the charges related to the attempted murder or kidnapping of Tsafos for which Petitioner was sentenced 60 years.

VII. The PCR Court did not reversibly err in finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to provide mitigation testimony during sentencing. (Petitioner's Questions VII and VIII).

The PCR Court properly found trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to provide mitigation testimony. Petitioner relies on the information underlying Questions I and II, most of which was already known by the Court prior to sentencing.

As discussed in Question I, trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to interview and call Petitioner's daughter as a witness. In mitigation, Petitioner contends his daughter would have testified that he never touched her or was otherwise inappropriate to his daughter. This argument was never presented to the PCR Court during the hearing and should be deemed abandoned. Even if not abandoned, trial counsel had no reason to know Petitioner's daughter would have provided any benefit in mitigation. While the minimal testimony that Petitioner had never done anything inappropriate to her would have provided a sweet sentiment from his daughter, it does nothing to mitigate the scheme Petitioner used to kidnap the minor victim and how he completely ruined her life by raping her orally, anally, and vaginally.

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